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Executive Directors‘ Statement

BUSINESS REVIEW
In last year, our turnover recorded approximately HK$10.5 million, which was attributable to coal trades of
approximately HK$9.5 million and jewellery sales of approximately HK$1 million. The two coke plants were
still in construction works but with significant progress and they are expected to start production within
this year. However, as the plants were in the construction phase, together with the granting of the share
option during the year resulting in additional expense of approximately HK$13 million incurred according to
the accounting standard; the Group recorded a net consolidated loss attributable to the equity holders of
the Company of approximately HK$31 million for year 2006.

In April this year, the Company issued 230 million new shares through private placement and 5-year
convertible notes with the principal amount of HK$300 million for cash. The placing price was HK$2.00 per
share and initial conversion price was HK$2.33 per share; the net proceed would be amounted to
approximately HK$720 million. We plan to use approximately HK$150 million for investing into two existing
coke plants, HK$200 million retained within the group as working capital (including repayment of short
term loans) and the rest of approximately HK$370 million will be used for future coalmine investments to
enhance our long term competitiveness in the energy sector.

As the Group has been focusing most of our effort in coal investments for years and gaining progress, the
management has made the decision to cease the jewellery sales business after year 2006 in order to
maximize the best interests for the Company and sales clearance of jewellery was completed on 28 February
2007. With the successfulness of fund raising from the market, the financial position of the Group has
returned to a health position as it strengthened the capital base of the Company.

FINANCIAL POSITION
Material acquisitions and disposals
During the year ended 31 December 2006, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had any material
acquisitions or disposals.

Charges on Assets

At 31 December 2006, none of the Group’s assets was charged or subject to any encumbrance.

Contingent Liabilities

At 31 December 2006, the Group had borrowed an amount of RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$49,963,000) from a third party (the “Lender”). The Lender in turn had borrowed the same amount from
a financial institution. As part of this funding arrangement, the Group and two subsidiaries of a minority
equity holder of the Group have given joint and several guarantees for the amount borrowed by the Lender
to the financial institution. Save as disclosed above, there was no other guarantees given to any banks or
financial institutions by the Group.

Gearing Ratio

At 31 December 2006, the gearing ratio of the Group, which is computed from the Group’s interest bearing
liabilities divided by shareholders’ funds, was approximately 620%. The borrowings were mainly for financing
certain construction and installation of plant and machinery of two subsidiaries for the production of coking
coal products in the PRC and payment for deposits for a potential mining project. Subsequent to the balance
sheet date on 2 April 2007, the Company issued new shares of 230,000,000 at HK$2.00 to independent
investors resulting in the gearing ratio of the Group substantially decreased to 72%.

Exposure To Fluctuations In Exchange Rates

At 31 December 2006, other than assets and liabilities denominated in Renminbi, the Group had no material
exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations.
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FINANCIAL POSITION (cont’d)

Liquidity and Financial Resources

At 31 December 2006, the Group’s current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities) was
approximately 0.1 and the Group’s cash and bank deposits amounted to HK$10,573,000. Upon the completion
of the Placing Agreement and Subscription Agreement in April 2007, the aggregate net proceed of
approximately HK$720,000,000 substantially increased the balance of the Group’s cash and bank deposits.

Staff

The Group had 7 Hong Kong employees and 275 PRC employees at 31 December 2006 with remuneration
package to be reviewed annually. The Group provides a mandatory provident fund scheme for Hong Kong
employees and the state-sponsored retirement plan for PRC employees (Note 3(s) to the financial
statements). The Group has also adopted share option scheme since 20 June 2003 (Note 3(r) and Note 34
to the financial statements). Details of share options being granted under the share option scheme during
the year are set out in the section “SHARE OPTION SCHEME” of Directors’ Report.

DIVIDEND
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2006.

FUTURE PROSPECTS
The global economy is expected to be broadly favorable as inflation will ease and interest rates will remain
steady through the year. With the continue growth of economy, China maintains the defined policies in
supporting the sizable companies investing into coal related industries to promote operation with
environmental and safety concerns as well as improvement of resource utilization. Through the share placing
and issue of convertible notes, we currently have adequate funding and are assessing the possibility to
increase our share equity interest in the PRC joint-venture “Jinshan” for future profit expansion. In respect
of coalmine operation, we have made progress in obtaining significant documents and permits from the
relevant government authorities. We will speed up the coalmine application process and hopefully to obtain
the mining rights shortly to enhance ourselves on the integration of business downstream into coal mining
to ensure stable and quality supply of raw coal.

As the two coke plants will deliver production within the year, this will definitely help to strengthen the
recurring income base of the Group. Since the management has made the decision for the cessation of the
jewellery sales business, sales clearance of jewellery was completed on 28 February 2007. Thereafter, we
can focus all our resources and effort in the energy sector development.

We are, with capabilities and enthusiasm, strongly believing that once our plants start production together
with the possible mining rights obtained, both our revenue and profit growth will take place with a significant
rise in the coming years and will bring in attractive returns to our shareholders.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Company, I would express our thanks to our fellow Directors and the colleagues for their
dedication and continuous efforts in the development of the core business of the Group in energy sector,
and most importantly, making it happened.

SO Kwok Hoo

Executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 April 2007
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of shareholders of Fushan International Energy
Group Limited (the “Company”) will be held at the Faclon Room I Basement Luk Kwok Hotel No. 72
Gloucester Road Wanchai Hong Kong on Friday, 15 June 2007 at 3:00 p.m. for the following purposes:–

As Ordinary Business

1. To receive, consider and adopt the audited financial statements and reports of the directors and auditors
for the year ended 31 December 2006.

2. To re-elect retiring directors and authorize the board of directors to fix their remuneration.

3. To re-appoint auditors and authorize the board of directors to fix their remuneration.

As Special Business

4. To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modification the following resolutions as Ordinary
Resolutions:

4A. “THAT:

(a) subject to the paragraph (c) of this Resolution and pursuant to section 57B of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the exercise by the directors of the Company
(the “Directors”) during the Relevant Period (as hereinafter defined) of all the powers of the
Company to allot, issue and deal with additional shares in the capital of the Company or securities
convertible into shares, or options, warrants or similar rights to subscribe for any shares or such
securities in the capital of the Company, and to make or grant offers, agreements, options and
rights of exchange or conversion which might require the exercise of such powers be and is hereby
generally and unconditionally approved;

(b) the approval in paragraph (a) of this Resolution shall be in addition to any other authorization given
to the Directors and shall authorize the Directors during the Relevant Period to make or grant
offers, agreements, options and rights of exchange or conversion which would or might require
the exercise of such powers after the end of the Relevant Period;

(c) the aggregate nominal amount of share capital allotted or agreed conditionally or unconditionally
to be allotted (whether pursuant to an option, warrant or otherwise) and issued by the Directors
pursuant to the approval granted in paragraph (a) of this Resolution, otherwise than pursuant to:

(i) a Rights Issue (as hereinafter defined);

(ii) the exercise of rights of subscription or conversion under the terms of any warrants issued by
the Company or any securities when are convertible into shares;

(iii) an issue of shares under any share option scheme or similar arrangement adopted by the
Company;

(iv) an issue of shares as scrip dividends or similar arrangement providing for the allotment of
shares in lieu of the whole or part of a dividend on shares in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company;

shall not exceed 20% of the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in
issue as at the date of passing of this Resolution, and the approval granted in paragraph (a) of the
Resolution shall be limited accordingly; and
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(d) for the purposes of this Resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the date of passing of this Resolution until whichever is
the earlier of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company; or

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next general meeting of the Company is required
by the Articles of Association of the Company or the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) to be held; or

(iii) the revocation or variation of the authority given under this Resolution by an ordinary resolution
of the shareholders of the Company in general meeting, and

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares, or offer of warrants or options to subscribe for shares,
open for a period fixed by the Directors to the holders of shares of the Company on the register on
a fixed record date in proportion to their holdings of such shares of the Company (subject to such
exclusions or other arrangements as the Directors may deem necessary or expedient in relation to
fractional entitlements or having regard to any restrictions or obligations under the laws of, or the
requirements of, any recognised regulatory body or any stock exchange in, any territory outside
Hong Kong applicable to the Company).”

4B. “THAT:

(a) subject to paragraph (c) of this Resolution, the exercise by the Directors during the Relevant Period
(as hereinafter defined) of all the powers of the Company to repurchase its own issued shares in
the capital of the Company (the “Shares”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) subject to and in accordance with all applicable laws and the requirements of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange as amended from time to
time be and is hereby generally and unconditionally approved;

(b) the approval in paragraph (a) of this Resolution shall be in addition to any other authorization given
to the Directors and shall authorize the Directors on behalf of the Company during the Relevant
Period to procure the Company to repurchase its Shares at a price determined by the Directors;

(c) the aggregate nominal amount of share capital of the Company to be repurchased by the Company
pursuant to the approval granted in paragraph (a) of this Resolution shall not exceed 10% of the
aggregate nominal amount of the Shares in issue as at the date of the passing of this Resolution,
and the approval granted under paragraph (a) of this Resolution shall be limited accordingly;

(d) for the purposes of this Resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the date of passing of this Resolution until whichever is
the earlier of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company; or

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next general meeting of the Company is required
by the Articles of Association of the Company or the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) to be held; or

(iii) the revocation or variation of the authority given under this Resolution by an ordinary resolution
of the shareholders of the Company in general meeting.”
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4C. “THAT subject to the passing of Resolutions set out in paragraphs 4A and 4B in the notice convening
this meeting of which this Resolution forms part, the general mandate granted to the Directors and for
the time being in force to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot, issue and otherwise deal
with shares in the capital of the Company and to make or grant offers, agreements, options and rights
of exchange or conversion pursuant to the Resolution set out in paragraph 4A above be and is hereby
extended by the addition to the aggregate nominal amount of share capital of the Company which may
be allotted or agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be allotted (whether pursuant to an option,
warrant or otherwise) by the Directors pursuant to such general mandate, an amount representing the
aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the Company repurchased by the Company under the
authority granted pursuant to the Resolution set out in paragraph 4B above provided that such amount
shall not exceed 10% of the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in issue as
at the date of passing of this Resolution.”

5. To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without modification the following resolution as a Special
Resolution:

(a) “THAT Article 89 of the Articles of Association of the Company be and is amended by:

deleting in the 1st line of the Article the words “special resolution” and replacing them with “ordinary
resolution”” and;

(b) “THAT Article 90 of the Articles of Association of the Company be and is amended by:

deleting in the 5th line of the Article the word “annual”. ”

By Order of the Board
Lam Lin Chu

Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 23 April 2007

Notes:

(1) Any shareholder of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and,
on a poll, vote in his stead in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the
Company.

(2) Where there are joint registered holders of any shares, any one of such persons may vote at any meeting, either personally or by
proxy, in respect of such shares as if he were solely entitled thereto; but if more than one of such joint holders is present at any
meeting personally or by proxy, that one of the said persons so present whose name stands first on the register in respect of such
shares shall alone be entitled to vote in respect thereof.

(3) To be valid, the form of proxy together with a power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed or a notarially
certified copy thereof must be deposited with the Company’s share registrars, Tengis Limited at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, No.28
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong at least 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting or any adjournment
thereof as the case may be and in default thereof the form of proxy and such power or authority shall not be treated as valid.

(4) A circular containing further details regarding Resolutions 2, 4A to 4C and 5 above will be sent to the shareholders together with
this 2006 Annual Report of the Company and a form of proxy for use at the meeting.

(5) The translation into Chinese language of this notice is for reference only. In case of any inconsistency, the English version shall
prevail.
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Directors’ Report

The board of directors (the “Directors”) submit herewith their annual report together with the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2006.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS
The Company’s principal activities are investment holding and sales of jewellery products. The Group is
principally engaged in production and sales of coal and coke products and side products and sales of jewellery
products. Particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 18 to the financial statements. During the year,
the Directors decided to cease the business of jewellery due to a strategic decision to focus the direction
of the Group to energy sector. The sales clearance of jewellery was completed on 28 February 2007.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business and geographical segments is set out in
note 6 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2006 and the state of affairs of the Group and the
Company as at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 20 to 61.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2006.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2006 are set out in note 33 to the financial
statements.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and of the Company during the year are set out in note
35 to the financial statements.

The Company did not have any reserves available for distribution as at 31 December 2006, calculated under
Section 79B of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group and of the Company during the
year are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

BANK LOAN AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Particulars of bank loan and other borrowings of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2006
are set out in notes 27 to 32 to the financial statements.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set
out on page 62 of the annual report.
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Directors’ Report

RETIREMENT SCHEMES
The Group provides the mandatory provident fund scheme for Hong Kong employees and the state-sponsored
retirement plan for PRC employees. Particulars of these retirement schemes are set out in note 3(s) to the
financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES
The Company has not redeemed any of its securities during the year. Neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased or sold any of the Company’s securities during the year.

DIRECTORS
The directors during the year were:

Mr. WONG Lik Ping
Mr. SO Kwok Hoo
Mr. LI King Luk
Mr. KEE Wah Sze
Mr. CHOI Wai Yin
Mr. CHAN Pat Lam

In accordance with Article 98 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Li King Luk, Mr. Kee Wah Sze,
Mr. Choi Wai Yin and Mr. Chan Pat Lam shall hold office until the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr. Kee Wah Sze, Mr. Choi Wai Yin and Mr. Chan Pat Lam are independent non-executive directors. Mr. Kee
Wah Sze and Mr. Chan Pat Lam were appointed for a one-year term expiring on 31 December 2007 and Mr.
Choi Wai Yin was appointed for a 18-month term expiring on 31 December 2007.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable within one year
without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Details of Mr. Wong Lik Ping’s interest in contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business are
set out in Note 30 and Note 31 to the financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, no other contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.



10 Annual Report 2006
Fushan International Energy Group Limited

Directors’ Report

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 20 June 2003, the equity holders of the Company
approved the adoption of a new option scheme (“the Scheme”) and to give the Directors the power to
implement and administer the Scheme with effect from the date of passing of the resolution. The Scheme
will expire on 20 June 2013. Other particulars of the Scheme are set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2006, the number of shares in respect of which options had been granted under the
Scheme was 104,000,000 (2005: NIL), representing approximately 5% (2005: NIL) of the shares of the
Company in issue at that date. The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options
granted and to be granted under the Scheme and any other schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date on 20 June 2003 without prior
approval from the equity holders of the Company. The number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted to any individual in any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant of option shall not
exceed 1% of the shares in issue, without prior approval from the shareholders of the Company. Options
granted to a substantial equity holder or any independent non-executives of the Company in excess of
0.1% of the issued capital of the Company and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million must be
approved in advance by the equity holders of the Company.

No consideration is payable on the grant of an option. An option may generally be exercised during the
period commencing on the date of grant and expiring on the date to be determined by the Directors, but in
any event not more than 10 years from the date of grant. The exercise price of options is to be determined
by the Directors and is the highest of the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant, the average closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant and the nominal value of the share on the date of grant.

The total number of securities available for issue under the Scheme as at 31 December 2006 was 104,080,000
(2005: 208,080,000) which represented 5% (2005:10%) of the issued share capital of the Company at 31
December 2006.

At 31 December 2006, the option holders of the Company had the following interest in unlisted options to
subscribe for shares of the Company granted under the Scheme. The vesting period of the options is two
year from the date of grant and the options are then exercisable within a period of next five years. Each
option gives the option holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of HK$0.1 each of the Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (cont’d)

No. of shares

acquired on

No. of options exercise of No. of options Period during

granted during options during outstanding at which options Exercise price

Name the period the period the period end Grant date are exercisable per share

Directors

Wong Lik Ping 2,000,000 – 2,000,000 26 April 2006 26 April 2008 to HK$1.50
25 April 2013

So Kwok Hoo 6,500,000 – 6,500,000 26 April 2006 26 April 2008 to HK$1.50
25 April 2013

Chan Pat Lam 800,000 – 800,000 26 April 2006 26 April 2008 to HK$1.50
25 April 2013

Choi Wai Yin 800,000 – 800,000 26 April 2006 26 April 2008 to HK$1.50
25 April 2013

Kee Wah Sze 800,000 – 800,000 26 April 2006 26 April 2008 to HK$1.50
25 April 2013

Sub-total 10,900,000 – 10,900,000

Employees 78,500,000 – 78,500,000 26 April 2006 26 April 2008 to HK$1.50
25 April 2013

Others 14,600,000 – 14,600,000 26 April 2006 26 April 2008 to HK$1.50
25 April 2013

Total 104,000,000 – 104,000,000

Note: Closing price per share immediately before the date of grant of options was HK$1.34.

The fair value of the options granted in the current year, measured at the date of grant on 26 April 2006,
totalled approximately HK$38,858,000. As the options vest after two years from the date of grant on 26
April 2006, the amount will be recognised as a share-based compensation expense in the consolidated
income statement over 2 years from 26 April 2006 to 25 April 2008. Thus, HK$12,953,000 was recognised
as a share-based compensation expense in the consolidation income statement with a corresponding credit
in share-based compensation reserve for the year ended 31 December 2006.

Using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, the following significant assumptions were used to derive
the fair value of the options granted on 26 April 2006:

1. an expected volatility of 57.33%;

2. nil dividend yield;

3. the estimated weighted average expected life of the options granted on 26 April 2006 is 2.1 years. The
corresponding period of Hong Kong Exchange Fund Notes interest rate at the date the options granted
was 4.27%; and

4. estimated turnover rates of the Mainland employees and Hong Kong employees are both 15%.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (cont’d)

For the purposes of the calculation of fair value, no adjustment has been made in respect of options expected
to be forfeited, due to the absence of historical data.

The Black-Scholes option pricing model requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the
volatility of share price. Because changes in subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair
value estimate, in the directors’ opinion, the existing model does not necessarily provide a reliable single
measure of the fair value of the share options.

Options which lapse or are cancelled prior to their exercise date are deleted from the register of outstanding
options.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SECURITIES
Save as disclosed in the section “SHARE OPTION SCHEME”, at no time during the year was the Company,
its holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements, which enable a director or chief
executive of the Company to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate and none of the Directors or their spouses or children under the age
of 18 had any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company or had exercised any such rights.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
At 31 December 2006, the interests and short positions of the directors and chief executives of the Company
in the shares, debentures or underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein or which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”) were as follows:

(i) Long positions in ordinary shares (HK$0.10 each) of the Company:

% of issued share

share capital

Number of ordinary shares held of the Company

Personal Corporate

Name of Director interests interests Total Total

Mr. Wong Lik Ping 90,750,000 1,149,200,000 1,239,950,000 59.59%
(Note)

Note: Mr. Wong Lik Ping is the beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital of China Merit Limited, which owned
1,149,200,000 ordinary shares in the Company as at 31 December 2006.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS

(cont’d)

(ii) Options to subscribe for ordinary shares (HK$0.10 each) of the Company:

The directors of the Company have been granted unlisted options under the Company’s share option
scheme, details of which are set out in the section “SHARE OPTION SCHEME” above.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors and chief executives had any interest or short position in the
shares, debentures or underlying shares of the Company or its associated corporations which were recorded
in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or notified to the Company pursuant to the
Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
As at 31 December 2006, no other person, not being a director or chief executive of the Company, other
than the directors or chief executives of the Company whose interests are set out in the section “DIRECTORS’
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS” above, had an interest or short position in
5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 336 of the SFO.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers
are as follows:

Purchases

– the largest supplier 91%
– five largest suppliers in aggregate 100%

Sales

– the largest customer 85%
– five largest customers in aggregate 100%

At no time during the year have the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in
these suppliers or customers.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive
directors to be independent.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The Company entered into Placing Agreement on 15 March 2007 pursuant to which the Placing Agent has
conditionally agreed to procure placees for a maximum of 230,000,000 new shares of the Company (being
the Placing Shares), at a placing price of HK$2.00 per Placing Share. Net proceed from the Placing Shares
is estimated to be approximately HK$440,000,000. Maxease Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the Subscription Agreement on 15 March 2007 pursuant to which the Manager has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, or to procure subscriptions for, the Convertible Notes in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$300,000,000 issued by Maxease Limited. Net proceed form the Convertible Notes
is estimated to have approximately HK$280,000,000. The Placing Agreement and the Subscription Agreement
were completed 2 April 2007 and 20 April 2007 respectively. Further details of the transactions are set out
in note 44 to the financial statements and the announcements of the Company dated 20 March 2007 and
2 April 2007.

AUDITORS
Grant Thornton retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Grant Thornton as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board

So Kwok Hoo

Executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 April 2007
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Biographical Details of Directors

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Wong Lik Ping (age 46), Chairman, was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 14
September 2001. Mr. Wong has over 17 years’ experience in trading business and financial industry and has
held directorship with various private companies. He has extensive experience and investments in a wide
range of businesses in the PRC.

Mr. So Kwok Hoo (age 53) was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 20 March 1998. Mr.
So holds Bachelor degrees in both Applied Science with major in Chemical Engineering and Business
Administration obtained in Canada. He has over 20 years of experience in marketing of electrochemical and
industrial products sales in Asia Pacific Region together with property investment experience in Hong Kong
as well.

Mr. Li King Luk (age 51) was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 14 September 2001. Mr.
Li has over 19 years’ experience in corporate management. He worked for a ceramics factory in Shanxi
Province, the PRC as factory manager for 6 years. He also has over 13 years of experience in trading. Mr.
Lee holds a Bachelor Degree in North Western University of Light Industry of the PRC (中國西北輕工業學院).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Kee Wah Sze (age 59) was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 11
April 1997. Mr. Kee is a partner of Messrs. Michael Cheuk, Wong & Kee and is a practicing solicitor in Hong
Kong for over 20 years specialized in both the commercial and conveyancing fields. He is a Notary Public of
Hong Kong, a China Appointed Attesting Offices and holder of Master Degree in Chinese and Comparative
Law of City University of Hong Kong and Master Degree in Law of the People’s University of the PRC. Mr.
Kee also currently serves respectively, as an executive director and independent non-executive director of
Goldbond Group Holdings Limited and China Fair Land Holdings Limited, which are Hong Kong Listed
Companies.

Mr. Choi Wai Yin (age 48) was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 1
July 2004. Mr. Choi has over 20 years’ experience in the fields of finance and fund management. He currently
serves as an executive director of Incutech Investments Limited which is a Hong Kong listed company and
an executive director of a company which is the investment manager of a Hong Kong listed company. Mr.
Choi is an investment adviser registered under the Securities and Future Ordinance. He holds a Master
degree of Science in Finance from the City University of Hong Kong, a Bachelor Degree in Business
Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor Degree in law from the Peking
University.

Mr. Chan Pat Lam (aged 58) was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 31
December 2004. Mr. Chan has over 35 years’ experience in the field of international banking industry in
Hong Kong, Macau and California. Currently, he is the assistant to the Managing Director of a private company,
which is engaged in acting as an international container shipping agency in the Western region of Pearl
River Delta. He is also the business advisor of a commercial bank in Macau and a partner of another private
company, which is engaged in trading and wholesaling of grocery items.
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(a) Corporate governance practices

None of the directors of the Company is aware of any information that would reasonably indicate that
the Company is not, or was not for any part of the year ended 31 December 2006, in compliance with
the provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 14
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (“the Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, which came into effect on 1 January 2005, except for the following deviations:

Code Provision A.4.2 stipulates that all directors appointed to fill a causal vacancy should be subject to
election by shareholders at the first general meeting

The Directors are aware of such deviation and propose to amend Article 89 of the Articles of Association
of the Company to comply with this code accordingly at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be
held on 15 June 2007.

(b) Directors’ securities transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules and its code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by directors (the “Code of Conduct”). The Directors have
made enquiry to all directors of the Company to confirm that they have complied with the Code of
Conduct during the year ended 31 December 2006.

(c) Board of directors

The Board of directors comprises 3 independent non-executive directors and 3 executive directors. The
Company has received from each of the independent non-executive directors an annual confirmation
of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-
executive directors to be independent.

Details of backgrounds and qualifications of the directors are set out in the section of “BIOGRAPHICAL
DETAILS OF DIRECTORS”.

The attendance records of all board meeting in 2006 are set out below:

Number of meetings held in 2006 7
Executive Directors
Wong Lik Ping 4/7
So Kwok Hoo 7/7
Li King Luk 0/7

Independent non-executive directors
Kee Wah Sze 5/7
Choi Wai Yin 4/7
Chan Pat Lam 5/7

(d) Chairman and chief executive officer

Chairman and chief executive officer of the Company are Mr. Wong Lik Ping and Mr. So Kwok Hoo
respectively.

(e) Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Kee Wah Sze, Mr. Choi Wai Yin and Mr. Chan Pat Lam are independent non-executive directors. Mr.
Kee Wah Sze and Mr. Chan Pat Lam were appointed for a one-year term expiring on 31 December 2007
and Mr. Choi Wai Yin was appointed for a 18-month term expiring on 31 December 2007.
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(f) Remuneration of directors

The Company set up a Remuneration Committee in accordance with the relevant requirements of the
Code on 21 September 2005. The Committee comprises four members, including three independent
non-executive directors namely Mr. Kee Wah Sze, Mr. Choi Wai Yin and Mr. Chan Pat Lam and one
executive director namely Mr. So Kwok Hoo. The Committee is chaired by Mr. Kee Wah Sze.

The role and function of the Remuneration Committee included the determination of the specific
remuneration packages of all executive and non-executive directors, including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including any compensation payable for loss or termination of
their office or appointment, and make recommendations to the board of the directors. The Remuneration
Committee should consider factors such as salaries index, time commitment and responsibilities of
the directors.

Details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

The attendance records of Remuneration Committee meeting in 2006 are set out below:

Number of meetings held in 2006 1
Name of members
Kee Wah Sze 1/1
So Kwok Hoo 1/1
Choi Wai Yin 1/1
Chan Pat Lam 1/1

(g) Nomination of directors

The board of directors considered that nomination committee was not necessary to set up as the
board of directors takes the role and function of nomination committee. During the year ended 31
December 2006, neither appointment nor resignation of the directors shall be considered.

(h) Audit committee
The Company has an Audit Committee which was established in accordance with the requirements of
the Code of the Best Practice for the purposes of reviewing and supervision over the Groups’ financial
reporting process and internal controls. The written terms of reference which describe the authority
and duties of the Audit Committee were prepared and adopted with reference to “A Guide for The
Formation of An Audit Committee” published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The primary roles and functions of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting process and internal controls systems of the Group. The Audit Committee is also responsible
for considering the appointment of the external auditor and reviewing any non-audit functions performed
by the external auditor, including whether such non-audit functions would led to any potential material
adverse effect on the Company.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Kee Wah Sze,
Mr. Choi Wai Yin and Mr. Chan Pat Lam. The Committee is chaired by Mr. Choi Wai Yin.
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(h) Audit committee (cont’d)

The attendance records of Audit Committee meeting in 2006 are set out below:

Number of meetings held in 2006 2
Name of members
Choi Wai Yin 2/2
Kee Wah Sze 2/2
Chan Pat Lam 2/2

The Group’s unaudited financial report for the six months ended 30 June 2006 and annual audited
financial report for the year ended 31 December 2006 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

(i) Auditors’ remuneration

An analysis of remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by Grant Thornton for
the year ended 31 December 2006 is as follows:

HK$

Audit services 380,000
Non-audit services 10,000

390,000

(j) Internal Control

The Board of directors has overall responsibility for maintaining sound and effective internal controls to
safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets, as well as for reviewing the system of
internal control of the Group.

The Board of directors has conducted annual review of the system of internal control of the Group to
ensure the effective and adequate internal control systems including the relevant financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions. The management throughout the Group
maintains and monitors the internal control system on an ongoing basis.

(k) Investors Relations

The Company has disclosed all necessary information to the shareholders in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The Company’s annual general meeting is a valuable forum for the directors to communicate
directly with the shareholders.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Certified Public Accountants
Member of Grant Thornton International

TO THE MEMBERS OF FUSHAN INTERNATIONAL ENERGY GROUP LIMITED

(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Fushan International Energy Group Limited (the
“Company”) set out on pages 20 to 61, which comprise the consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31
December 2006, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit and to report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group as at 31 December 2006 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Grant Thornton

Certified Public Accountants
13th Floor, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark
15 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

23 April 2007
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2006 2005
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 5 10,535 10,232
Cost of sales (8,601 ) (9,246)

Gross profit 1,934 986
Other operating income 7 275 335
Administrative expenses (35,282 ) (16,852)
Other operating expenses (3,013 ) (2,579)

Operating loss (36,086 ) (18,110)
Finance costs 8 (9,028 ) (202)
Share of results of associates – (1,366)

Loss before income tax 9 (45,114 ) (19,678)
Income tax expense 10 – –

Loss for the year (45,114 ) (19,678)

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 11 (30,988 ) (14,020)
Minority interest (14,126 ) (5,658)

Loss for the year (45,114 ) (19,678)

Loss per share for loss attributable to the equity

holders of the Company during the year 12
– Basic HK(1.49 cents ) HK(0.67 cent)
– Diluted N/A N/A

The notes on pages 26 to 61 form part of the financial statements.
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2006 2005
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 15 255,276 223,064
Leasehold land and land use rights 16 17,164 17,088
Goodwill 17 – –
Interest in an associate 20 – –
Prepayments and deposits 21 227,934 120,624

500,374 360,776

Current assets

Inventories 22 – –
Trade receivables 23 3 6,853
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 6,154 5,583
Cash and cash equivalents 24 10,573 10,587

16,730 23,023

Current liabilities

Trade payables 25 – 6,326
Other payables 29,812 24,370
Bank loan 27 49,963 22,898
Other loans 28 89,882 1,633
Amount due to a minority equity holder of a subsidiary 29 1,998 1,920
Amount due to ultimate holding company 30 10,000 –

181,655 57,147

Net current liabilities (164,925 ) (34,124)

Total assets less current liabilities 335,449 326,652

Non-current liabilities

Other loans 28 141,995 116,015
Amount due to ultimate holding company 30 – 10,000
Amounts due to related companies 31 25,820 15,271
Amounts due to minority equity holders of subsidiaries 32 68,054 57,905

235,869 199,191

Net assets 99,580 127,461
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2006 2005
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

EQUITY

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share capital 33 208,080 208,080
Reserves 35 (150,534 ) (134,895)

57,546 73,185
Minority interest 42,034 54,276

Total equity 99,580 127,461

On behalf of the Board

Wong Lik Ping So Kwok Hoo

Director Director

The notes on pages 26 to 61 form part of the financial statements.
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2006 2005
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 15 61 83
Interest in subsidiaries 18 – –
Interest in an associate 20 – –
Amounts due from subsidiaries 19 – –

61 83

Current assets

Inventories 22 – –
Trade receivables 23 3 14
Amounts due from subsidiaries 19 82,006 82,272
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 24 26
Cash and cash equivalents 24 3,299 8,665

85,332 90,977

Current liabilities

Other payables 876 723
Amount due to ultimate holding company 30 10,000 –

10,876 723

Net current assets 74,456 90,254

Total assets less current liabilities 74,517 90,337

Non-current liabilities

Amount due to ultimate holding company 30 – 10,000

Net assets 74,517 80,337

EQUITY

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share capital 33 208,080 208,080
Reserves 35 (133,563 ) (127,743)

Total equity 74,517 80,337

On behalf of the Board

Wong Lik Ping So Kwok Hoo

Director Director

The notes on pages 26 to 61 form part of the financial statements.
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2006 2005
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss before income tax (45,114 ) (19,678)
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,643 2,588
Amortisation of operating lease prepayments 430 311
Impairment and amortisation of goodwill – 479
Finance costs 9,028 202
Share of results of associates – 1,366
Interest income (275 ) (295)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment – (40)
Share-based compensation expense 12,953 –

Operating loss before working capital changes (20,335 ) (15,067)
Decrease/(Increase) in trade receivables 7,129 (6,351)
(Increase)/Decrease in prepayments, deposits and

other receivables (83 ) 1,498
(Decrease)/Increase in trade payables (6,584 ) 5,150
Increase/(Decrease) in other payables 4,362 (211)

Net cash used in operating activities (15,511 ) (14,981)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (12,893 ) (52,595)
Payments for operating lease prepayments – (1,605)
(Increase)/Decrease in prepayment for purchase of property,

plant and equipment and prepayment for a potential
mining project (102,391 ) 4,400

Capital investment in an associate – (14,324)
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired 37 – (4,289)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment – 40
Interest received 275 295

Net cash used in investing activities (115,009 ) (68,078)

Cash flows from financing activities

Decrease in pledged bank deposits – 4,703
Decrease in bills payable – (4,801)
Proceeds from new bank loan 49,963 –
Repayment of bank loan (23,832 ) (15,506)
Proceeds from new other loans 102,672 65,479
Repayment of other loans – (24,003)
Increase in amount due to ultimate holding company – 10,000
Increase in amounts due to related companies 8,994 4,801
Increase in amounts due to minority equity

shareholders of subsidiaries 4,196 24,097
Finance costs paid (10,940 ) (2,936)

Net cash generated from financing activities 131,053 61,834

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 533 (21,225)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 10,587 31,628
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, on cash held (547 ) 184

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 24 10,573 10,587

The notes on pages 26 to 61 form part of the financial statements.
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Minority Total

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company interest equity

Share–

based

Share Share Accumulated compensation Translation

capital premium losses reserve reserve Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2005 208,080 399,169 (521,211 ) – (118 ) 85,920 42,080 128,000
Acquisition of a non-wholly

owned subsidiary – – – – – – 17,021 17,021
Exchange difference on

translation of the financial
statements of foreign entities – – – – 1,285 1,285 833 2,118

Loss for the year – – (14,020 ) – – (14,020 ) (5,658 ) (19,678 )
Total recognised income and

expense for the year – – (14,020 ) – 1,285 (12,735 ) (4,825 ) (17,560 )

At 31 December 2005 208,080 399,169 (535,231 ) – 1,167 73,185 54,276 127,461

At 31 December 2005 and
1 January 2006 208,080 399,169 (535,231 ) – 1,167 73,185 54,276 127,461

Share-based compensation – – – 12,953 – 12,953 – 12,953

Exchange difference on
translation of the financial
statements of foreign entities – – – – 2,396 2,396 1,884 4,280

Loss for the year – – (30,988 ) – – (30,988 ) (14,126 ) (45,114 )

Total recognised income and
  expense for the year – – (30,988 ) – 2,396 (28,592 ) (12,242 ) (40,834 )

At 31 December 2006 208,080 399,169 (566,219 ) 12,953 3,563 57,546 42,034 99,580

The notes on pages 26 to 61 form part of the financial statements.
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Fushan International Energy Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated
and domiciled in Hong Kong. The address of its registered office is 12th Floor, Kwan Chart Tower, No. 6
Tonnochy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

The Directors consider the ultimate holding company as at 31 December 2006 to be China Merit Limited,
which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) include the production and
sales of coal and coke products and side products and sales of jewellery products. The principal places
of the business are in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). During the year, the
Directors decided to cease the business of jewellery due to a strategic decision to focus the direction
of the Group to the energy sector. The sales clearance of jewellery was completed on 28 February
2007.

The financial statements on pages 20 to 61 have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. The financial statements also include the applicable disclosure requirements
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”).

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2006 were approved for issue by the board
of directors on 23 April 2007.

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
From 1 January 2006, the Group has adopted all the new and amended HKFRSs which are first effective
on 1 January 2006 and relevant to the Group.

The adoption of these new and amended HKFRSs did not result in significant changes in the Group’s
and Company’s accounting policies but gave rise to additional disclosures.

The Group has not early adopted the following HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective.
The directors of the Company anticipate that the adoption of such HKFRSs will not result in material
financial impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendment to HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements“ – Capital Disclosures”1

HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”1

HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments”2

HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 7 “Applying the Restatement Approach under HKAS 29
Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies”3

HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 8 “Scope of HKFRS 2”4

HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 9 “Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives”5

HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 10 “Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment”6

HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 11 “Group and Treasury Share Transactions”7

HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 12 “Services Concession Arrangements”8
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs (cont’d)
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 March 2006.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 May 2006.
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2006.
6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 November 2006.
7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 March 2007.
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of preparation

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial
statements are summarised below.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
assets and financial liabilities which are stated at fair values. The measurement bases are fully
described in the accounting policies below.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, notwithstanding that the
Group had net current liabilities of HK$164,925,000 (2005: HK$34,124,000) as at 31 December
2006. In the opinion of the directors, the Group will have sufficient cash resources to satisfy its
future working capital and other financing requirements as the Company entered into the Placing
Agreement and Subscription Agreement on 15 March 2007, which were completed on 2 April
2007 and 20 April 2007 respectively to raise total funds of approximately HK$720,000,000 to
enable the Group to continue in business as a going concern and to meet its liabilities and obligations
as and when they fall due for the period at least up to 31 December 2007. Accordingly, the financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The details of the transactions are set
out in note 44 to the financial statements and in the announcements of the Company dated 20
March 2007 and 2 April 2007.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are used in preparation of the
financial statements. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge and
judgement of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates.

(b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”) made up to 31 December each year.

(c) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power
to control the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from their activities. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are
considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are excluded from
consolidation from the date that control ceases.

Business combinations (other than for combining entities under common control) are accounted
for by applying the purchase method. This involves the revaluation at fair value of all identifiable
assets and liabilities, including contingent liabilities of the subsidiary, at the acquisition date,
regardless of whether or not they were recorded in the financial statements of the subsidiary
prior to acquisition. On initial recognition, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary are included
in the consolidated balance sheet at their fair values, which are also used as the bases for
subsequent measurement in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(c) Subsidiaries (cont’d)

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealized losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred.

In the Company’s balance sheet, subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment loss. The
results of the subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received
and receivable at the balance sheet date.

Minority interest represents the portion of the profit or loss and net assets of a subsidiary
attributable to equity interests that are not owned by the Group and are not the Group’s financial
liabilities.

Minority interests are presented in the consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately from
the equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company. Profit or loss attributable to the
minority interests are presented separately in the consolidated income statement as an allocation
of the Group’s results. Where losses applicable to the minority exceeds the minority interests in
the subsidiary’s equity, the excess and further losses applicable to the minority are allocated
against the minority interest to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is able to
make an additional investment to cover the losses. Otherwise, the losses are charged against the
Group’s interests. If the subsidiary subsequently reports profits, such profits are allocated to the
minority interest only after the minority’s share of losses previously absorbed by the Group has
been recovered.

(d) Associates

Associates are those entities over which the Group is able to exert significant influence, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of voting rights but which are neither
subsidiaries nor investment in a joint venture. In consolidated financial statements, investment in
associates is initially recognised at cost and subsequently accounted for using the equity method.
Under the equity method, the Group’s interest in the associate is carried at cost and adjusted for
the post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the associate’s net assets less any identified
impairment loss, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale). The consolidated income statement includes the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition, post-tax results of the associate for the year, including any impairment loss on
goodwill relating to the investment in associate recognised for the year.

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate. For this purpose, the Group’s interest in the associate
is the carrying amount of the investment under the equity method together with the Group’s long-
term interests that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is
recognised as goodwill. The cost of acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at
the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued
by the Group, plus any costs directly attributable to the investment.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(d) Associates (cont’d)

The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for
impairment as part of the investment. After the application of equity method, the Group determines
whether it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment loss on the Group’s investment in
its associates. At each balance sheet date, the Group determines whether there is any objective
evidence that the investment in associate is impaired. If such indications are identified, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as being the difference between the recoverable amount
(see Note 3 (k)) of the associate and its carrying amount.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the determination of the Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss in which
the investment is acquired.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Where the associate uses accounting
policies other than those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances,
adjustments are made, where necessary, to conform the associate’s accounting policies to those
of the Group when the associate’s financial statements are used by the Group in applying the
equity method.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investment in associates are stated at cost less any impairment
losses. The results of associates are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable.

(e) Foreign currency translation

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollars (HK$), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions
are translated into the functional currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the balance sheet date retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the income
statement.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined and are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial statements of foreign operations,
originally presented in a currency different from the Group’s presentation currency, have been
converted into Hong Kong dollars. Assets and liabilities have been translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the closing rates at the balance sheet date. Income and expenses have been converted into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at the average rates
over the reporting period provided that the exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly. Any
differences arising from this procedure have been dealt with separately in the translation reserves
in equity. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 have been treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing rates.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(e) Foreign currency translation (cont’d)

Other exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are
taken to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

(f) Income and expense recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods
and services, net of rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group. Revenue
is recognised as follows:

Sales of goods are recognised upon transfer of the significant risks to the customer and collectibility
of the related receivables is reasonably assured.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

Operating expenses are recognised in the consolidated income statement upon utilisation of the
services.

(g) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the
period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use when it is
probable that these borrowing costs will result in future economic benefits to the entity and the
costs can be measured reliably. Other borrowing costs are expensed.

(h) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business combination or an investment in a
subsidiary, an associate or a jointly controlled entity over the Group’s interest in the net fair value
of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-
generating units and is tested annually for impairment in the case of goodwill in subsidiaries. In
respect of associates or jointly controlled entities, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in
the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in the associate or jointly controlled entity, and is
assessed for impairment as part of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities over the cost of a business combination or an investment in a subsidiary,
an associate or a jointly controlled entity is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary or an associate, the attributable amount of goodwill
capitalised is included in the determination of the amount of gain or loss on disposal.

(i) Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents assets under construction and is stated at cost. Cost includes
construction costs plus interest charges arising from borrowings used to finance these assets
during the construction period. Capitalisation of these costs ceases and the asset concerned is
transferred to property, plant and equipment when substantially all the activities necessary to
prepare the assets for their intended use are completed.

No depreciation is provided on construction in progress until the relevant assets are ready for use.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(j) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

Buildings held under capital leasing agreements are depreciated over their expected useful lives
or over the term of lease, if shorter.

Depreciation on other assets is provided to write off the cost over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 5%
Plant and machinery 10%
Leasehold improvements 33 1/3%
Office equipment 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Motor vehicles 25%

The assets’ useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the income statement.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs, such as
repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

(k) Impairment of assets

Goodwill, property, plant and equipment, leasehold land and land use rights and interests in
subsidiaries and associates are subject to impairment testing.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent from those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generate cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating units). As a result,
some assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit
level. Goodwill in particular is allocated to those cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from synergies of the related business combination and represent the lowest level within the
Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose.

Individual assets or cash-generating units that include goodwill are tested for impairment at least
annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication that they are impaired. All other individual
assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for the amount by which the asset’s
or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under the Group’s accounting policy, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease according to that policy. The recoverable
amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell, and value in use.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of time value of money and
the risk specific to the asset.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(k) Impairment of assets (cont’d)

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. In respect of other assets,
an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(l) Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets remain with the lessor
are accounted for as operating leases. Annual rentals applicable to such operating leases are charged
to the income statement on a straight line basis over the lease terms.

Land use rights or prepaid land lease payments are up-front payments to acquire the land use
rights or leasehold land. The payments are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis over the lease
term.

(m) Financial assets – Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. Trade and other receivables are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. Amortised cost is
calculated taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate and transaction cost.

Trade and other receivables are provided against when objective evidence is received that the
Group will not be able to collect all amounts due to it in accordance with the original terms of the
receivables. The amount of the write-down is determined as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows.

At each balance sheet date, financial assets carried at amortised cost other than at fair value
through profit or loss are reviewed to determine whether there is any objective evidence of
impairment. If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on trades and other receivables
carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The
amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss of the period in which the impairment occurs.

(n) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the
first-in, first-out method and comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion
of overheads, based on normal operating capacity. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less any applicable selling expenses.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(o) Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claim from, fiscal
authorities relating to the current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the balance sheet
date. They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to
which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in the income statement.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance sheet
date between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, tax losses
available to be carried forward as well as other unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused
tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill
or from initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period the liability is settled or the asset realised, provided they are enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in the income statement, or in equity if
they relate to items that are charged or credited directly to equity.

(p) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

(q) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is determined using the nominal value of
shares that have been issued.

Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares are deducted from share premium
(net of any related income tax benefit) to the extent they are incremental costs directly attributable
to the equity transaction.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(r) Share-based compensation

All share-based payment arrangements granted after 7 November 2002 are recognised in the
financial statements. The Group operates equity-settled share-based compensation plans for
remuneration of its employees and other persons.

All services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based compensation are measured at
their fair values. These are indirectly determined by reference to the share options awarded. Their
value is appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact of any non-market vesting conditions.

All share-based compensation is ultimately recognised as expenses in the income statement with
a corresponding credit to share-based compensation reserve, net of deferred tax where applicable.
If vesting periods or other vesting conditions apply, the expense is allocated over the vesting
period, based on the best available estimate of the number of share options expected to vest.
Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are
expected to become exercisable. Estimates are subsequently revised, if there is any indication
that the number of share options expected to vest differs from previous estimates. No adjustment
to expense recognised in prior periods is made if fewer share options ultimately are exercised
than originally vested.

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction
costs up to the nominal value of the share issued are reallocated to share capital with any excess
being recorded as share-based compensation reserve.

(s) Retirement benefit costs and short term employee benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined contribution plans.

In Hong Kong, the Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefits scheme (“the MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
for all employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on 5% of the employees’ basic
salaries, subject to a cap of monthly relevant salaries of HK$20,000 and are charged to the income
statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF scheme.

According to the relevant rules and regulations in the PRC, the subsidiaries of the Company
operating in the PRC are required to participate in the state-sponsored retirement plan (the “PRC
RB Plan”) operated by the respective local municipal government in the PRC. These PRC subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage of the basic salaries of their employees, at 8% to
20%, to the PRC RB Plan (“Employer contributions”). The PRC RB Plan is responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees and the Group has no further obligations
for the actual pension payments or other post-retirement benefits beyond the Employer
contributions. Contributions under the PRC RB Plan are charged to the income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the PRC RB Plan.

Short term employee benefits
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision
is made for the estimated liability for unused annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the balance sheet date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised
until the time of leave.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(t) Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include bank loan, other loans, amount due to ultimate holding
company, related companies, minority equity holders of subsidiaries and trade and other payables.

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All interest related charges are recognised as an expense in finance costs in the
income statement.

Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

(u) Segment reporting
In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting the Group has determined that business
segments be presented as the primary reporting format and geographical segments as the
secondary reporting format.

In respect of business segment reporting, unallocated costs represent corporate expenses.
Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, inventories, receivables and
operating cash. Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment, including additions
resulting from acquisitions through purchases of subsidiaries.

In respect of geographical segment reporting, revenue are based on the country in which the
customer is located and total assets and capital expenditure are where the assets are located.

(v) Financial guarantees issued

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer (or guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the guarantee is initially recognised
as deferred income within trade and other payables. Where consideration is received or receivable
for the issuance of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
policies applicable to that category of asset. Where no such consideration is received or receivable,
an immediate expense is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit or loss
over the term of the guarantee as income from financial guarantees issued. In addition, provisions
are recognised if and when it becomes probable that the holder of the guarantee will call upon the
Group under the guarantee and the amount of that claim on the Group is expected to exceed the
current carrying amount i.e. the amount initially recognised less accumulated amortisation, where
appropriate.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

(w) Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(i) directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, the party (1) controls, is controlled,
or is under common control with, the Company or Group; (2) has an interest in the Company
that gives it significant influence over the Company or Group; or (3) has joint control over the
Company or Group;

(ii) the party is an associate;

(iii) the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(iv) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or its parent;

(v) the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (i) or (iv); or

(vi) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by or for
which significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (iv) or (v); or

(vii) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the Company or
Group, or of any entity that is a related party of the Company or Group.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are discussed below:

Impairment of assets
The Group assesses impairment at each balance sheet date by evaluating conditions specific to the
Group that may lead to impairment of assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is determined. Value-in-use calculations performed in assessing recoverable
amounts incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions about future events, which are subject
to uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual results. In making these key estimates and
judgements, the directors take into consideration assumptions that are mainly based on market condition
existing at the balance sheet dates and appropriate market and discount rates. These estimates are
regularly compared to actual market data and actual transactions entered into by the Group.
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5. REVENUE AND TURNOVER
Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents total invoiced value of goods supplied. Revenue
recognised during the year is as follows:

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000

Sales of coal products 9,534 10,230
Sales of jewellery products 1,001 2

Revenue 10,535 10,232

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(a) Primary reporting format – business segments

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, segment results and loss for the year by principal activities is
as follows:

Segment

Revenue results

2006 2005 2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Business segments:

Sales of coal products 9,534 10,230 933 984
Production of coke products* – – (17,732) (12,116)
Sales of jewellery products 1,001 2 1,001 2
Unallocated expenses – – (20,288) (6,980)

10,535 10,232 (36,086) (18,110)

Finance costs (9,028) (202)
Share of results of associates – (1,366)

Loss for the year (45,114) (19,678)
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

(a) Primary reporting format – business segments (cont’d)

An analysis of the Group’s assets, liabilities and capital expenditure as at 31 December 2006 by
principal activities is as follows:

Capital

Assets Liabilities expenditure

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Business segments:

Sales of coal products 2,495 8,243 – 6,326 – –
Production of coke products* 503,022 357,074 407,645 239,286 26,163 156,056
Sales of jewellery products – – – – – –
Unallocated 11,587 18,482 9,879 10,726 4 587

517,104 383,799 417,524 256,338 26,167 156,643

An analysis of the Group’s depreciation and amortisation and impairment incurred for the year by
principal activities is as follows:

Impairment

Depreciation Amortisation of goodwill

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Business segments:

Sales of coal products – – – – – –
Production of coke products* 2,417 2,181 323 204 – 479
Sales of jewellery products – – – – – –
Unallocated 406 460 107 107 – –

2,823 2,641 430 311 – 479
Less: Depreciation capitalised

in construction in
progress (180) (53) – – – –

2,643 2,588 430 311 – 479

* Not yet commenced operation



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2006

Annual Report 2006
Fushan International Energy Group Limited 39

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

(b) Secondary reporting format – geographical segments
An analysis of the Group’s revenue, segment results for the year, the Group’s assets as at 31
December 2006 and capital expenditure incurred for the year by principal markets is as follows:

Capital

Revenue Segment results Total assets expenditure

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Principal markets

PRC 9,534 10,230 (17,022) (11,132) 505,517 365,317 26,163 156,056
Hong Kong 1,001 2 (19,064) (6,978) 11,587 18,482 4 587

10,535 10,232 (36,086) (18,110) 517,104 383,799 26,167 156,643

During the year, the Directors decided to cease the business of jewellery (“the jewellery segment”)
due to a strategic decision to focus the direction of the Group to energy sector. The sales clearance
of jewellery was completed on 28 February 2007. As at 31 December 2006, other than the intra-
company balances, no other assets and liabilities remained in relation to the jewellery segment.
As a result, no gain or loss arose on cessation of the jewellery segment. During the year ended 31
December 2006, the business of jewellery sales had cash inflows from operating activities of
HK$1,001,000 (2005: HK$2,000), neither cash flows from investing activities nor from financing
activities were generated from the jewellery segment for 2006 and 2005.

7. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank interest income 275 295
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 40

275 335
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8. FINANCE COSTS

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest charges on:
Bank loans and overdrafts repayable within five years 3,295 2,877
Other loans wholly repayable within five years 18,534 6,254

Total borrowing costs 21,829 9,131
Less: interest capitalised to construction in progress* (12,801) (8,929)

9,028 202

* The borrowing costs have been capitalised at rates ranging from 6.00% to 8.00% per annum (2005: 6.00% to 8.00% per
annum)

9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
Cost of inventories recognised as expense 9,602 9,275
Less: Provision for inventories written back upon disposal (1,001) (29)

Cost of sales 8,601 9,246

Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration and
retirement benefits scheme contributions) (note 13) 21,007 7,643

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,823 2,641
Less: Amount capitalised to construction in progress (180) (53)

2,643 2,588

Amortisation of operating lease prepayments 430 311
Auditors’ remuneration

– audit services 380 320
– other services 10 106

Operating leases charges in respect of land and buildings 659 659
Other operating expenses

– impairment loss on goodwill – 479
– exploration costs incurred for a potential mining project 1,245 1,188
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
(a) No provision for Hong Kong profits tax and the PRC income tax has been made in the financial

statements in respect of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year (2005: NIL), as the Company
and its subsidiaries either have substantial accumulated tax losses brought forward which are
available for setting off against current year’s assessable profits or incurred tax losses for the
year.

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss at applicable tax rates is as follows:

2006 2005
HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

Loss before income tax (45,114) (19,678)
Notional tax on loss before

income tax, calculated
at the rates applicable
to loss in the countries
concerned (11,804) 26.2 (4,408) 22.4

Tax effect of non-deductible
expenses 10,467 (23.2) 3,155 (16.0)

Tax effect of non-taxable
revenue (332) 0.7 (36) 0.2

Tax effect of temporary
differences not recognised (19) – – –

Tax effect of unused tax
losses not recognised 1,688 (3.7) 1,289 (6.6)

Income tax expense – – – –

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 17.5% (2005: 17.5%) on the estimated assessable profit/
adjusted loss for the year. Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the appropriate current
rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries.

11. LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
Of the consolidated loss for the year attributable to the equity holders of the Company of HK$30,988,000
(2005: HK$14,020,000), a loss of HK$18,773,000 (2005: HK$6,462,000) has been dealt with in the
financial statements of the Company.

12. LOSS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the consolidated loss attributable to equity holders
of the Company of HK$30,988,000 (2005: HK$14,020,000) and on 2,080,800,000 (2005: 2,080,800,000)
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The Company completed the Placing Agreement and the Subscription Agreement on 2 April 2007 and
20 April 2007 respectively. As a result, the Company’s issued ordinary shares and potential ordinary
shares have increased. The details of the transactions are set out in note 44.

Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2006 was not presented because the impact of
the exercise of the share options was anti-dilutive. The Company did not have any dilutive potential
ordinary shares for the year ended 31 December 2005.
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13. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (including directors’ emoluments)

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000

Wages and salaries 8,448 8,021
Share-based compensation (note 34) 12,953 –
Unutilised annual leave 25 19
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme 66 90

21,492 8,130
Less: Wages and salaries capitalised to construction in progress (485) (487)

21,007 7,643

14. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S

EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments

Executive directors and non-executive directors

2006 2005

Salaries, Retirement Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits allowances benefits

and benefits scheme and benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total Fees in kind contributions Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors

Mr. Wong Lik Ping – 1,740 12 1,752 – 1,375 12 1,387
Mr. So Kwok Hoo – 2,239 12 2,251 – 1,118 12 1,130
Mr. Lee King Luk – – – – – – – –

Independent non-

executive directors

Mr. Kee Wah Sze 60 138 – 198 60 – – 60
Mr. Choi Wai Yin 60 138 – 198 60 – – 60
Mr. Chan Pat Lam 60 138 – 198 60 – – 60

180 4,393 24 4,597 180 2,493 24 2,697

No directors waived any emoluments in respect of the year ended 31 December 2006 (2005: NIL).
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14. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S

EMOLUMENTS (cont’d)

(b) Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year included two
(2005: two) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments payable to the remaining three (2005: three) individuals during the year are as follows:

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000

Basic salaries, housing allowances, other allowances
and benefits in kind 2,719 1,356

Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 24 31

2,743 1,387

The emoluments of the three (2005: three) individuals with the highest emoluments are within
the following band:

2006 2005
Number of Number of
individuals individuals

Emolument bands
Nil – HK$1,000,000 2 3
HK$1,000,000 – HK$1,500,000 1 –

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors or any of the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of
office (2005: NIL).
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Group

Construction Plant and Leasehold Office Furniture Motor

in progress Buildings machinery improvements equipment and fixtures vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2005
Cost 53,762 7,677 3,229 696 373 95 6,970 72,802
Accumulated depreciation – (1,195 ) (300 ) (599 ) (240 ) (81 ) (2,626 ) (5,041 )

Net book amount 53,762 6,482 2,929 97 133 14 4,344 67,761

Year ended 31 December 2005
Opening net book amount 53,762 6,482 2,929 97 133 14 4,344 67,761
Exchange differences 1,117 52 57 – 2 – 73 1,301
Acquisition of a subsidiary 100,117 – 445 – 62 – 491 101,115
Additions 54,554 – 364 – 54 – 556 55,528
Depreciation – (385 ) (354 ) (97 ) (49 ) (5 ) (1,751 ) (2,641 )

Closing net book amount 209,550 6,149 3,441 – 202 9 3,713 223,064

At 31 December 2005
Cost 209,550 7,735 4,131 696 496 96 7,590 230,294
Accumulated depreciation – (1,586 ) (690 ) (696 ) (294 ) (87 ) (3,877 ) (7,230 )

Net book amount 209,550 6,149 3,441 – 202 9 3,713 223,064

Year ended 31 December 2006
Opening net book amount 209,550 6,149 3,441 – 202 9 3,713 223,064

Exchange differences 8,545 97 130 – 4 – 92 8,868

Additions 24,607 – 1,532 – 23 5 – 26,167

Depreciation – (389 ) (443 ) – (58 ) (6 ) (1,927 ) (2,823 )

Closing net book amount 242,702 5,857 4,660 – 171 8 1,878 255,276

At 31 December 2006
Cost 242,702 7,850 5,831 696 527 101 7,876 265,583

Accumulated depreciation – (1,993 ) (1,171 ) (696 ) (356 ) (93 ) (5,998 ) (10,307 )

Net book amount 242,702 5,857 4,660 – 171 8 1,878 255,276

During the year, depreciation of HK$180,000 (2005: HK$53,000) was capitalised to construction in
progress.

At 31 December 2005, the Group’s bank loan in the amount of HK$22,898,000 was secured by certain
of the Group’s construction in progress with a carrying value of HK$47,764,000 (Note 27). This bank
loan was repaid during the year ended 31 December 2006.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

Company

Leasehold Office Furniture Motor

improvements equipment and fixtures vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2005
Cost 696 266 91 601 1,654
Accumulated depreciation (599) (218) (81) (601) (1,499)

Net book amount 97 48 10 – 155

Year ended 31 December 2005
Opening net book amount 97 48 10 – 155
Additions – 52 – – 52
Depreciation (97) (23) (4) – (124)

Closing net book amount – 77 6 – 83

At 31 December 2005
Cost 696 318 91 – 1,105
Accumulated depreciation (696) (241) (85) – (1,022)

Net book amount – 77 6 – 83

Year ended 31 December 2006
Opening net book amount – 77 6 – 83

Additions – 2 2 – 4

Depreciation – (22) (4) – (26)

Closing net book amount – 57 4 – 61

At 31 December 2006
Cost 696 320 93 – 1,109

Accumulated depreciation (696) (263) (89) – (1,048)

Net book amount – 57 4 – 61
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16. LEASEHOLD LAND AND LAND USE RIGHTS-GROUP
The Group’s interests in leasehold land and land use rights represent prepaid land lease payments
under operating leases. Their net book values are analysed as follows:

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000

In Hong Kong held on:
Leases of over 50 years 4,388 4,495

Outside Hong Kong held on:
Leases of between 10 to 50 years 12,776 12,593

17,164 17,088

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000

Opening net carrying amount 17,088 8,384
Exchange differences 506 77
Additions – 1,605
Acquisition of subsidiaries – 7,333
Amortisation of operating lease prepayments (430) (311)

Closing net carrying amount 17,164 17,088

As at 31 December 2006, the leasehold land and land use rights included certain properties in PRC
with a net book value of approximately HK$3,764,000 (2005: HK$3,888,000) for which the Group is still
in the process of obtaining the land use rights and the building ownership certificates. Once the Group
has obtained all relevant certificates, the Group has the right to assign, lease or mortgage these
properties.
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17. GOODWILL-GROUP
The main changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill result from the acquisition of Shanxi Yao Zin as
well as the impairment loss of recognised goodwill. The net carrying amount of goodwill is analysed as
follows:

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

At 1 January 2,010 1,837
Opening balance adjustment to eliminate

accumulated amortisation – (306)

2,010 1,531
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) – 479

At 31 December 2,010 2,010

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

At 1 January (2,010) (1,837)
Eliminated against cost at 1 January – 306

(2,010) (1,531)
Impairment loss – (479)

At 31 December (2,010) (2,010)

Net carrying amount at 31 December – –

Prior to 2005, positive goodwill was amortised on a straight-line basis over three years. With effect
from 1 January 2005, the Group no longer amortises goodwill. In accordance with the transitional
provisions set out in HKFRS 3, the accumulated amortisation of goodwill as at 31 December 2004 was
eliminated against the gross amount of goodwill and amortisation of goodwill was discontinued from
1 January 2005.

At 31 December 2005, the directors assessed the carrying amount of goodwill and considered it was
impaired. Accordingly an impairment loss of HK$479,000 was charged to the consolidated income
statement for the year of 2005.
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18. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES-COMPANY

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000

Investments at cost
Unlisted shares 22,256 22,256
Less: Provision for impairment (22,256) (22,256)

– –

Particulars of the subsidiaries at 31 December 2006 are as follows:

Place of Particulars of Percentage of

incorporation issued  issued capital

and kind of Principal activities share capital/  held by the

Name legal entity and place of operations registered capital Company

2006 2005

Shanxi Jinshan Energy PRC, limited Investment holding, Registered capital of 65% 65%
Limited (“Jinshan”)* liability company production and sales RMB100,000,000

of coal products in
the PRC

Taiyuan Xishan Risheng Coal PRC, limited Production and sales Registered capital of 45.5% # 45.5% #

and Coking Company liability company of coke products in RMB30,000,000
Limited (“Risheng”)* the PRC

Liulin Luenshan Coking PRC, limited Production and sales Registered capital of 42.25% # 42.25% #

Company Limited liability company of coke products in RMB30,000,000
(“Luenshan”)* the PRC

Fushan Energy Group Limited British Virgin Investment holding 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%
Islands, limited in the PRC US$1 each
liability company

Fu Hui Jewellery & Goldsmith Hong Kong, Jewellery retailing and 2,000,000 ordinary 100% 100%
Company Limited limited liability wholesaling in shares of HK$1 each

company Hong Kong

Fu Hui Investments Limited Hong Kong, Provision of financing 100 ordinary shares 100% 100%
limited liability arrangements in of HK$1 each
company Hong Kong

Jumbo Hall International Hong Kong, Property holding in 2 ordinary shares of 100% 100%
Limited limited liability Hong Kong HK$1 each

company

New Honest Limited British Virgin Investment holding 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%
Islands, limited in the PRC US$1 each
liability company
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18. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES-COMPANY (cont’d)

Place of Particulars of Percentage of

incorporation issued  issued capital

and kind of Principal activities share capital/  held by the

Name legal entity and place of operations registered capital Company

2006 2005

Shanxi Yao Zin Coal and PRC, limited Production and sales Registered capital of 51% 51%
Coking Company Limited liability company of coke products in RMB80,000,000
(“Shanxi Yao Zin”) the PRC (Note)

Maxease Limited British Virgin Dormant 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%
Islands, limited US$1 each
liability company

Full Bright International New York, Dormant US$183,750 100% 100%
Limited U.S.A., limited

liability company

* These companies were indirectly held by the Company and were joint ventures incorporated in the PRC with limited liability.

# These companies are subsidiaries of Jinshan as Jinshan holds more than half of the voting power of these companies and
accordingly, are accounted for as subsidiaries of the Company.

Note: The registered capital of Shanxi Yao Zin was increased from RMB40,000,000 to RMB80,000,000 during the year of 2005. The
increase in the registered capital of RMB40,000,000 has not yet been injected to Shanxi Yao Zin by New Honest Limited and
other shareholders as at 31 December 2006.

19. AMOUNTS DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES-COMPANY

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts due from subsidiaries 232,660 233,148
Less: Provision for impairment (150,654) (150,876)

82,006 82,272
Less: Portion due within one year included under

current assets (82,006) (82,272)

Non-current portion included under non-current assets – –

At 31 December 2006, the amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of the amounts due from subsidiaries approximate
their fair values.
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20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

Group Company

2006 2005 2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost – – 4 4
Share of net assets – – – –
Amount due from an associate 3,739 3,739 3,739 3,739

3,739 3,739 3,743 3,743
Less: Provision for impairment (3,739) (3,739) (3,743) (3,743)

– – – –

The amount due from an associate is unsecured, interest-free and not repayable within 12 months
from the balance sheet date.

Particulars of the associate at 31 December 2006 are as follows:

Principal

activities Particulars of

Place of and place issued

Name incorporation of operations share capital Assets Liabilities Revenues Loss % Interest held

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 2006 2005

Real Wide Hong Kong PRC (in voluntary 100 ordinary – – – – 45% 45%
Limited liquidation) shares of

HK$1 each

21. PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS
Included in prepayments and deposits of the Group were (a) prepayment of HK$144,138,000 (2005:
HK$48,005,000) paid by a subsidiary for a potential mining project; and (b) prepayments of
HK$83,796,000 (2005: HK$72,619,000) paid by another two subsidiaries (2005: two subsidiaries) for
the construction and installation of certain property, plant and machinery in relation to two coke plants.



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2006

Annual Report 2006
Fushan International Energy Group Limited 51

22. INVENTORIES

Group Company

2006 2005 2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials-Jewellery 89,122 100,284 89,122 93,801
Finished goods-Jewellery – 68,342 – 64,439

89,122 168,626 89,122 158,240
Less: Provision for inventories (89,122) (168,626) (89,122) (158,240)

– – – –

During the year, the Group reversed provision for inventories of HK$78,503,000 (2005: NIL) as the
related inventories for which the provision was made, were disposed of during the year.

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES
General credit terms of the Group range from 60 to 90 days. At 31 December 2006, the ageing analysis
of the trade receivables (net of specific provision for impairment of receivables) is as follows:

Group Company

2006 2005 2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 3 6,819 3 14
31 – 60 days – – – –
61 – 90 days – – – –
Over 90 days – 34 – –

3 6,853 3 14

Included in trade receivables of the Group amounted to nil (2005: HK$6,839,000) denominated in
Renminbi (“RMB”).
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24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include the following components:

Group Company

2006 2005 2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at banks and on hand 8,573 3,069 1,299 1,147
Short term bank deposits 2,000 7,518 2,000 7,518

10,573 10,587 3,299 8,665

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term bank deposits
are made for varying periods of one week to one month depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit rates ranged from 0.54% to
4.26% (2005: 0.54% to 4.02%).

Included in cash and cash equivalents of the Group are cash and bank balances of HK$7,265,000
(2005: HK$907,000) denominated in RMB placed with the banks in the PRC. RMB is not a freely
convertible currency.

25. TRADE PAYABLES
At 31 December 2006, the ageing analysis of the trade payables is as follows:

Group Company

2006 2005 2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days – 6,326 – –

As at balance sheet date, all of the trade payables of the Group were denominated in RMB.

26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
Include in other payables were current obligations to various retirement benefit schemes (defined
contribution plans) for Hong Kong and PRC employees:

Group Company

2006 2005 2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Current obligations on:
–Retirement benefit schemes:

defined contribution plans 107 107 13 13

There were no forfeited contributions during the year (2005: NIL).
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27. BANK LOAN
At 31 December 2006, the bank loan is repayable as follows:

Group Company

2006 2005 2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 49,963 22,898 – –

At 31 December 2005, the bank loan of HK$22,898,000 denominated in RMB was secured by certain
construction in progress of a subsidiary with a carrying value of HK$47,764,000 (Note 15) and was
guaranteed by the ultimate holding company, China Merit Limited and Jinshan. The loan was interest
bearing at a fixed rate of 8% per annum.

At 31 December 2006, the bank loan of HK$49,963,000 denominated in RMB was joint and several
guaranteed by the Group and a minority equity holder of a subsidiary. The bank loan is unsecured and
is interest bearing at a fixed rate of 6.34% per annum.

28. OTHER LOANS
At 31 December 2006, other loans were repayable as follows:

Group Company

2006 2005 2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Current portion – within 1 year 89,882 1,633 – –
Non-current portion – between 1

and 2 years 141,995 116,015 – –

231,877 117,648 – –

At 31 December 2006, other loans, denominated in RMB, are unsecured and interest bearing at rates
ranging from 5.49% to 12.00% per annum (2005: 5.49% to 10.20% per annum). As at 31 December
2006, non-current accrued interest of HK$10,594,000 (2005: HK$3,684,000) are repayable together
with the principal debts on the maturity dates.



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2006

54 Annual Report 2006
Fushan International Energy Group Limited

29. AMOUNT DUE TO A MINORITY EQUITY HOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY
The amount denominated in RMB, is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

30. AMOUNT DUE TO ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY
At 31 December 2006, the amount due to ultimate holding company is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. In the previous year, the ultimate holding company had undertaken to give not
less than twelve months notice before repayment was due. The loan was accordingly classified as a
long term loan.

31. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES
The amounts due to related companies, denominated in RMB, in which a substantial equity holder of
the Company who is also a director of the Company has beneficial interest, are unsecured, interest
bearing at 7.00% per annum (2005: 7.00%) and are repayable on 31 December 2008 (2005: 31 March
2007). During the year ended 31 December 2006, interest expenses of HK$969,000 (2005: HK$869,000)
were recognised in the financial statements. As at 31 December 2006, interest payables of
HK$1,838,000 (2005: HK$869,000) were accrued and are repayable together with the principal debts
on the respective maturity dates.

32. AMOUNTS DUE TO MINORITY EQUITY HOLDERS OF SUBSIDIARIES
The amounts of HK$17,986,500 (2005: HK$17,282,000) due to minority equity holders of subsidiaries
are repayable on 31 March 2008 (2005: 31 March 2007). The remaining amounts of HK$43,439,000
(2005: HK$37,705,000) due to minority equity holders of another subsidiary are repayable one year
after production commences. (As at 31 December 2006, the production has not been commenced).
These amounts due to minority equity holders of subsidiaries, denominated in RMB, are unsecured,
interest bearing at rates ranging from 6.00% to 7.00% per annum. During the year ended 31 December
2006, interest expenses of HK$3,166,000 (2005: HK$2,918,000) were recognised in the financial
statements. As at 31 December 2006, interest payables of HK$6,628,000 (2005: HK$2,918,000) were
accrued and are repayable together with the principal debts on the maturity dates.

33. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of shares

2006 2005 2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
At 31 December 5,000,000,000 5,000,000,000 500,000 500,000

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
At 1 January and 31 December 2,080,800,000 2,080,800,000 208,080 208,080
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME
At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 20 June 2003, the equity holders of the Company
approved the adoption of a new option scheme (the “Scheme”) to give the Directors the power to
implement and administer the Scheme with effect from the date of passing of the resolution. The
Scheme is designed to reward and provide incentive to, and strengthen the Group’s business relationship
with the prescribed classes of participants, including but not limited to eligible employees and directors
of any member of the Group, who may contribute to the growth and development of the Group. The
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years ending on 19 June 2013, after which no
further options will be granted.

The exercise price of options is to be determined by the Directors and is at least the highest of the
closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant, the average closing price of the shares as stated as Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant and the nominal value of the
share on the date of grant. No consideration is payable on the grant of an option. An option may
generally be exercised during the period commencing on the date of grant and expiring on the date to
be determined by the Directors, but in any event not more than 10 years from the date of grant.
Options granted to a substantial equity holder or any independent non-executives of the Company in
excess of 0.1% of the issued capital of the Company and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5
million must be approved in advance by the equity holders of the Company.

The total number of securities available for issue under the share option scheme as at 31 December
2006 was 104,080,000 (2005: 208,080,000) which represented 5% (2005: 10%) of the issued share
capital of the Company at 31 December 2006. The number of securities issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant in any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the
Company’s ordinary shares in issue.

All share-based compensation will be settled in equity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation
to repurchase or settle the options. No share options have been granted since the adoption of Scheme
until during the year ended 31 December 2006. All share options granted during the year ended 31
December 2006 have been accounted for under HKFRS 2. Share options granted and exercise price are
as follows for the year ended 31 December 2006.

Exercise

Exercise date Number price

HK$

Granted and outstanding
At 31 December 2006 26 April 2008 104,000,000 1.50

The fair values of options granted during 2006 were determined using the Black-Scholes valuation
model. Significant inputs into the calculation included an expected volatility of 57.33%, estimated
weighted average expected life of 2.1 years, risk-free interest rate of 4.27%, no dividend yield and
estimated employees’ turnover rate of 15%.

The expected volatility was determined with reference to the historical volatility which is calculated by
past two years daily average closing price of the Company from 26 April 2004 to 25 April 2006. The
expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future share
market price trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. The risk-free interest rate
was determined with reference to the corresponding period of Hong Kong Exchange Fund Notes interest
rate at the date of options granted.

The fair value of the options granted in the current year, measured at the date of grant on 26 April
2006, totalled approximately HK$38,858,000. As the options vest after two years from the date of
grant on 26 April 2006, the amount will be recognised as a share-based compensation expense in the
consolidated income statement over 2 years from 26 April 2006 to 25 April 2008. Thus, HK$12,953,000
was recognised as a share-based compensation expense in the consolidation income statements with
a corresponding credit in share-based compensation reserve for the year ended 31 December 2006.
No liabilities were recognised due to share-based payment transactions.
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35. RESERVES
Group

Share-based

Share Accumulated compensation Translation

premium losses reserve reserve Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2005, as restated 399,169 (521,211 ) – (118 ) (122,160 )
Exchange difference on translation of the

financial statements of foreign entities – – – 1,285 1,285
Loss for the year – (14,020 ) – – (14,020 )

At 31 December 2005 399,169 (535,231 ) – 1,167 (134,895 )

At 31 December 2005 and  at 1 January 2006 399,169 (535,231) – 1,167 (134,895)

Share-based compensation – – 12,953 – 12,953

Exchange difference on translation of the
financial statements of foreign entities – – – 2,396 2,396

Loss for the year – (30,988) – – (30,988)

At 31 December 2006 399,169 (566,219) 12,953 3,563 (150,534)

Company
Share-based

Share Accumulated compensation

premium losses reserve Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2005 399,169 (520,450) – (121,281)
Loss for the year – (6,462) – (6,462)

At 31 December 2005 399,169 (526,912) – (127,743)

At 1 January 2006 399,169 (526,912) – (127,743)

Share-based compensation – – 12,953 12,953

Loss for the year – (18,773) – (18,773)

At 31 December 2006 399,169 (545,685) 12,953 (133,563)

36. DEFERRED TAX
As at 31 December 2006, no deferred tax liabilities have been provided (2005: NIL) as the amount
involved was immaterial and no deferred tax assets have been recognised (2005: NIL) in relation to the
deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses as it is uncertain whether future taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

Group Company

2006 2005 2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Deductible temporary differences 7,196 29,277 409 425
Tax losses 191,822 186,016 151,866 146,151

199,018 215,293 152,275 146,576
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36. DEFERRED TAX (cont’d)

The tax losses of the Group of approximately HK$5,755,000 (2005: HK$5,658,000) will expire in four to
five years while tax losses of approximately HK$186,067,000 (2005: HK$180,358,000) have no expiry
date.

The tax losses of the Company of approximately HK$151,866,000 (2005: HK$146,151,000) have no
expiry date.

37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS-GROUP
On 11 August 2005, New Honest Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired a
further 13% equity interest in Shanxi Yao Zin which is engaged in production and sales of coke products
in the PRC, increasing its equity interest from 38% to 51%, at a consideration of approximately
HK$4,995,000 which was satisfied by cash. Accordingly, Shanxi Yao Zin became a subsidiary of the
Company on 11 August 2005.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill arising on such acquisitions are as follows:

2005
HK$’000

Net assets acquired

Property, plant and equipment 101,115
Prepayments for construction and installation of property, plant and

equipment and deposit for a potential mining project 31,717
Leasehold land and land use rights 7,333
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 1,343
Cash at bank and on hand 706
Other payables (9,683)
Other loans (62,886)
Amounts due to minority equity holders (32,810)
Interest payables (2,099)

Net assets 34,736
Minority interests (17,020)
Share of net assets of associates at the date it became a subsidiary (13,200)

Net assets acquired 4,516
Goodwill arising on acquisition (note 17) 479

Total consideration paid, satisfied by cash 4,995
Less: Cash at bank and on hand of the subsidiaries acquired (706)

Cash outflow on acquisition 4,289

* The carrying amounts of net assets acquired are equal to their fair value.

Since its acquisition, the acquired subsidiary did not contribute to the Group’s turnover for year ended
31 December 2005. The acquired subsidiary contributed HK$2,490,000 to the consolidated loss for the
year ended 31 December 2005. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2005, the Group’s revenue
would have been HK$10,232,000 and consolidated loss for the year would have been HK$21,907,000.
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38. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS-GROUP

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000

Consideration for purchase of property, plant and equipment
outstanding and unpaid included in
– other payables 293 6,049

Proceeds from new other loan reclassified from other payables – 9,601

293 15,650

39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Capital commitments outstanding of the Group and Company at 31 December 2006 not provided for in
the financial statements are as follows:

Group Company

2006 2005 2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted but not provided for:
– capital expenditure in respect of

acquisition of property, plant
and equipment 112,895 70,364 – –

– capital expenditure in respect of
exploration and design fees for
a potential mining project 7,604 6,509 – –

120,499 76,873 – –

40. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
At 31 December 2006, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
in respect of land and buildings are payable as follows:

Group Company

2006 2005 2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 659 633 – –
In the second to fifth years 2,636 2,533 – –
After five years 26,027 25,640 – –

29,322 28,806 – –

The Group leases certain land and buildings under operating lease arrangements for terms ranging
from 2 to 50 years.
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41. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At 31 December 2006, the Group had borrowed an amount of RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$49,963,000) from a third party (the “Lender”). The Lender in turn had borrowed the
same amount from a financial institution. As part of this funding arrangement, the Group and two
subsidiaries of a minority equity holder of the Group have given joint and several guarantees for the
amount borrowed by the Lender to the financial institution.

42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

(a) For the year ended 31 December 2005, China Merit Limited, the ultimate holding company of the
Company, provided a corporate guarantee in respect of a bank loan of HK$22,898,000 in favour of
one of the subsidiaries of the Company at nil consideration. The relevant bank loan has been
repaid in January 2006. In addition, China Merit Limited granted an advance of HK$10,000,000 to
the Company on 11 August 2005 (Note 30). Details of other borrowings from related parties are
disclosed in notes 29, 31 and 32 to the financial statements.

(b) In January 2006, Luenshan has drawn down a banking facility denominated in RMB amounting to
HK$49,963,000 from a financial institution. Jinshan, the immediate holding company of Luenshan,
and a minority equity holder of Luenshan have given joint and several guarantees to secure the
banking facility.

(c) In January 2006, Luenshan entered into a new loan agreement for a loan denominated in RMB of
approximately HK$49,963,000 repayable in one year with a third party, (the “Lender”). Luenshan
together with two subsidiaries of a minority equity holder of Luenshan have given joint and several
guarantees for an amount of approximately HK$49,963,000 borrowed by the Lender to financial
institution (Note 41).

(d) Key management personnel compensation:

Included in staff costs are key management personnel compensation and comprises the following
categories:

2006 2005
HK$’000 HK$’000

Short term employee benefits 2,513 2,493
Post-employment benefits 24 24
Share-based payment 1,466 –

4,003 2,517
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks which result from both its operating and investing
activities. The Group’s risk management is coordinated by the board of directors, and focuses on securing
the Group’s short to medium term cash flows by minimising the exposure to financial markets. The
most significant risks to which the Group is exposed to are described below.

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to fair value interest rate risk is mainly attributable to its bank loans and
other loans as detailed in note 27 and 28 respectively.

(b) Credit risk
Generally, the maximum credit risk exposure of financial assets is the carrying amount of the
financial assets as shown on the face of the balance sheet. Credit risk, therefore, is only disclosed
in circumstances where the maximum potential loss differs significantly from the financial asset’s
carrying amount.

The Group has significant concentration of credit risk on trade receivables. However, the
management actively monitors the subsequent settlement of trade receivables. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

In order to minimise the credit risk of deposits, the management of the Group reviewed the
recoverable amount of each individual deposit at each balance sheet to ensure that adequate
impairment loss are made for irrecoverable amounts.

(c) Foreign currency risk

The Group has transaction currency exposures arising from sales, purchases and capital and other
expenditures in RMB which is different from the Company’s functional currency. The Group did
not enter into foreign currency forward contracts to manage the Group’s exposure to movement
in foreign currency exchange rates on specific transactions.

(d) Fair value

The fair value of the Group’s current financial assets and liabilities are not materially different from
their carrying amounts because of the immediate or short term maturity. The fair values of non-
current liabilities were not disclosed because their carrying value is not materially different from
their fair value.

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time and based on relevant market information
and information about the financial instruments. These estimates are subjective in nature and
involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgement and therefore cannot be determined
with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the estimates.

(e) Liquidity risk

As mentioned in note 3(a), the Group have taken various active steps to improve its cash flows.
The directors of the Company are satisfied that the Group will have sufficient cash resources to
continue in business as a going concern and to meet its liabilities and obligations as and when
they fall due for the period at least up to 31 December 2007. Accordingly, the financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis.



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2006

Annual Report 2006
Fushan International Energy Group Limited 61

44. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
The Company and the Placing Agent entered into the Placing Agreement on 15 March 2007 pursuant to
which the Placing Agent has conditionally agreed to procure placees for a maximum of 230,000,000
new Shares (“Placing Shares”), at a placing price of HK$2.00 per Placing Share, on a best effort basis.

Maxease Limited being a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as issuer, the Company as guarantor,
and the Manager as manager have entered into the Subscription Agreement on 15 March 2007 pursuant
to which the Manager has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, or to procure subscriptions for, the
Convertible Notes in an aggregate principal amount of HK$300,000,000 by the Issuer. The Convertible
Notes will be issued in registered form in amounts of HK$100,000 each and will be convertible into
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company. The Convertible Notes shall be
convertible, at the options of the holders, into the Shares at any time following the issue of the
Convertible Notes until 10 Business Days prior to the Maturity Date. Unless previously redeemed,
converted or purchased and cancelled, the Convertible Notes shall be redeemed on the Maturity Date
at 144.5044% of their principal amount, which shall give the holders of the Convertible Notes a yield
equal to 7.5% per annum on a semi-annual basis from the time of issue. The net proceeds of the
Subscription will initially be held in an escrow bank account until the Group has invested into, or
purchased a greenfield coalmine or coal mine assets that are already in operation within 1 year from 20
April 2007. Otherwise, the Convertible Noteholders will have right at holders’ option to require the
Group to redeem all or part of that holders’ Notes at a price that is equivalent to a give the holders a
yield equal to 7.5% per annum on a semi-annual basis from the date of issue.

The aggregate of the 230,000,000 Placing Shares and the 128,755,364 Conversion Shares (assuming
full conversion of the Convertible Notes at the Initial Conversion Price) represent (i) approximately
17.24% of the existing issued share capital of the Company and (ii) approximately 14.71% of the issued
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the issue of the Placing Shares and the Conversion Shares.
The aggregate of the 230,000,000 Placing Shares and the 160,944,206 Conversion Shares (assuming
full conversion of the Convertible Notes at the Minimum Reset Reference Price) represent (i)
approximately 18.79% of the existing issued share capital of the Company and (ii) approximately 15.82%
of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the issue of the Placing Shares and the
Conversion Shares. The Conversion Shares will rank pari passu in all respect with the Shares then in
issue at the time of the conversion.

The Placing Shares and the Conversion Shares will be issued under the general mandate granted to
the Directors at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 16 June 2006. The Placing
Agreement and the Subscription Agreement were completed 2 April 2007 and 20 April 2007 respectively.
The aggregate amounts of net proceeds from the Placing Agreement and the Subscription Agreement
is approximately HK$720,000,000. The details of the transactions are set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 20 March 2007 and 2 April 2007.
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and minority interests of the Group for the last five financial
years as extracted from the respective published audited financial statements is set out below. Certain comparative
amounts have been restated due to the adoption of the new or revised standards and interpretations of Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards effective from 1 January 2005. This summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Results

Turnover 10,535 10,232 7,560 1,470 3,732

Loss attributable to equity holders
of the Company (30,988) (14,020) (14,741) (5,629) (3,528)

Assets and liabilities

Total assets 517,104 383,799 210,021 103,364 109,784

Total liabilities (417,524) (256,338) (82,021) (4,461) (3,376)

Net assets 99,580 127,461 128,000 98,903 106,408

Minority interests (42,034) (54,276) (42,080) – –

Equity attributable to equity holders
of the Company 57,546 73,185 85,920 98,903 106,408
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